FILED

JUN 22 2017

ELIZABETH A. BROWN  
CLERK OF SUPREME COURT  
BY                       
DEPUTY CLERK

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

\*\*\*

NEVADA RECYCLING AND  
SALVAGE, LTD, a Nevada Limited  
Liability Company; AMCB, LLC, a  
Nevada Limited Liability Company d/b/a  
RUBBISH RUNNERS,

Appellants,

vs.

RENO DISPOSAL COMPANY, INC, a  
Nevada Corporation doing business as  
WASTE MANAGEMENT; REFUSE,  
INC., a Nevada Corporation; WASTE  
MANAGEMENT OF NEVADA, INC., a  
Nevada Corporation,

Respondents.

Supreme Ct. Case No.: 71497

District Ct. Case No.: CV15-00497

APPELLANTS' JOINT OPENING BRIEF- REDACTED

**STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

1. The District Court erred by applying *Noerr* immunity to a private agreement between private parties who only used the petitioning process as an incidental conduit to carrying out their anticompetitive conspiracy to create a monopoly.
2. The District Court erred by considering inadmissible evidence, relying on an absence of evidence, ruling on the weight and credibility of evidence, including but not limited to conflicting affidavits, and construing the foregoing in light favorable *only* to the *moving party*.
3. The District Court failed to apply the appropriate substantive law as required when evaluating damages under the Nevada Unfair Trade Practices Act, thereby committing reversible error.
4. The District Court committed reversible error in failing to consider, rule on, or grant Appellants' request for relief pursuant to NRCP 56(f) and other pending discovery motions prior to ruling on the Motions for Summary Judgment.

**VII.  
STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This case arises from the anticompetitive scheme by Reno Disposal Company, Inc. ("RDC"), Refuse, Inc. ("Refuse") and Waste Management of Nevada, Inc. ("WM") (collectively referred to at times as the "Waste Management Parties"), in conspiring with Castaway Trash Hauling ("Castaway"), whereby, among other things, RDC and Castaway colluded to combine and effectuate a secret acquisition at the very latest, as of April of 2012, the explicit purpose of which was to create a monopoly and unlawfully exclude Nevada Recycling and Salvage, Ltd. ("NRS") and AMCB, LLC doing business as Rubbish Runners ("RR"), and other competitors from the market.

The Waste Management Parties have utilized this anticompetitive scheme to foreclose competition and unlawfully gain a monopolistic advantage, to the detriment of NRS and RR, in violation of Nevada's Unfair Trade Practice Act. ("NUTPA"). In carrying out this anticompetitive conspiracy, RDC and Refuse, along with Castaway, and later used the municipal process as a conduit to carry out the private agreement between the Waste Management Parties and Castaway, to create a monopoly.

As a result, NRS and RR filed their Verified First Amended Complaint on March 25, 2015, alleging in part, unfair trade practices/conspiracy to create a

1 monopoly in violation of the NUTPA. Joint Appendix ("JA") Vol. 2, JA000191-  
2 384.

3 After obtaining leave to do so, NRS and RR filed their Second Amended  
4 Complaint on June 8, 2016, adding WM as a party. Vol. 18, JA003528-3530; Vol.  
5 18, 19, JA003536-3729. WM appeared for the first time in this case on June 15,  
6 2016, after being joined on June 8, 2016. Vol. 21, JA004113-4137. Literally the  
7 day after its first appearance, WM filed Joinders in RDC and Refuse's previously  
8 filed Motions for Summary Judgment re: Liability and Damages, which NRS and  
9 RR had already timely opposed. Vol. 21, JA004138-4146. The Court held oral  
10 arguments on the summary judgment motions on August 18, 2016 and  
11 subsequently entered its Order thereon on September 19, 2016. Vol. 26, JA005176,  
12 JA005289-5294. The Court did not rule on WM's Joinders prior to, during or at the  
13 time it issued its Order granting RDC and Refuse's Motions for Summary  
14 Judgment.

15 As such, after the Waste Management Parties filed a Motion for Entry of  
16 Final Judgment, on October 25, 2016 the District Court entered Judgment in favor  
17 of all the Waste Management Parties, explicitly retroactively granting the Joinder  
18 of WM, on all claims. Vol. 26, JA005397-5399.

19 ///

20 ///

- 1
- 2
- 3
- 4
- 5
- 6
- 7
- 8
- 9
- 10
- 11
- 12
- 13
- 14
- 15
- 16
- 17
- 18
- 19
- 20
- 21
- 22
- 23

On [REDACTED], [REDACTED] emailed [REDACTED]  
[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED] [REDACTED] [REDACTED] [REDACTED] [REDACTED] [REDACTED] [REDACTED] [REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED] [REDACTED] [REDACTED] [REDACTED] [REDACTED] [REDACTED] [REDACTED] [REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED] [REDACTED] [REDACTED] [REDACTED] [REDACTED] [REDACTED] [REDACTED] [REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

1 [REDACTED]  
2 [REDACTED] responded to [REDACTED] as follows:

3 [REDACTED]  
4 [REDACTED]  
5 [REDACTED]  
6 [REDACTED]  
7 [REDACTED]  
8 [REDACTED]  
9 [REDACTED]  
10 [REDACTED]

11 [Emphasis Added]. Vol. 13, JA002562-2563. On [REDACTED], the parties

12 [REDACTED] that,

13 [REDACTED]

14 [REDACTED]

15 [REDACTED]

16 [REDACTED]

17 [REDACTED]

18 [REDACTED]

19 [REDACTED]

20 [REDACTED]  
21 [REDACTED] Vol. 11, JA002308.

22 In mid-2012 RDC approached the City and proposed having two different  
23 zones and two different providers for commercial services. Vol. 17, JA003266 at

¶4; See also, Vol. 7, JA001330:20-21, (“[A]t some point in mid 2012 I [Martinelli] took a concept to them [City of Reno] of creating franchise zones”).

At the time, there were no City imposed qualifications for haulers or facilities to be considered for the Franchise or Disposal Agreements or the Franchised zones. Vol. 17, JA003266 at ¶5. The City did not solicit bids for those who wanted to be considered as a franchisee for commercial waste and recycling services; RDC went to the City with the zone proposal with RDC having one zone and Castaway having the other zone. *Id.* See also, Email between Gary Duhon (then Attorney for the Waste Management Parties) and Jason Geddes (former City of Reno Sustainability Manger), whereby Mr. Geddes asks Mr. Duhon for the final map for the percentage of the franchise zones, Vol. 20, JA003862, (“Jason, the labeled maps I sent previously are final and agreed to by Castaway and Reno Disposal and we can adjust if necessary as provided in the agreement. The proportionate share is to be changed 19.50% in the commercial agreement;” “So 19.5 for CTH and 80.5 for WM. Correct?” “Correct”).

In approximately September of 2012, then Councilwoman Zadra “specifically asked whether there were any other Commercial solid waste, trash and/or recycling businesses in the City of Reno who should be included in the Franchise negotiation process and the answer [she] received was along the lines of ‘maybe, well sort of but not really.’” Vol. 17, JA003266, at ¶6.



1 It was not until the day before the October 10, 2012 Reno City Council  
2 meeting that Councilwoman Zadra learned that "there were in fact others,  
3 including Nevada Recycling and Salvage and Rubbish Runners, who were engaged  
4 in the Commercial solid waste, trash and recycling industries in the City of Reno."  
5 Vol. 17, JA003267 at ¶7. However, by the time Councilwoman Zadra learned of  
6 the other interested stakeholders like NRS and RR, "the zones for [RDC] and  
7 Castaway had already been decided." *Id.* See also, Reno City Council Presentation,  
8 Vol. 20, JA003902. (RDC presented to the City "2 Service Areas and 2 Service  
9 Providers ('Zones')").  
10

11 The first meeting the City had with the other businesses operating in the City  
12 of Reno in the commercial waste and recycling industries was the day before the  
13 October 10, 2012 City Council meeting. Vol. 17, JA003267 at ¶8. RDC and  
14 Castaway and their respective zones were selected before any public meetings  
15 were held regarding the Commercial Franchise Agreements. *Id.* at ¶9.  
16

17 The City Council held several public meetings on the topic of single stream  
18 recycling in general, but held a total of three meetings in October and November of  
19 2012 specifically regarding the Franchise and Disposal Agreements that RDC and  
20 Refuse were proposing. *Id.* at ¶10.  
21

22 During the October and November public meetings regarding the Franchise  
23 and Disposal Agreements proposed by RDC and Refuse, it became clear that the

1 other local stakeholders were not previously aware of the contract negotiations  
2 between RDC, Refuse, Castaway and the City. *Id.* at ¶11. At the October 10, 2012  
3 City Council meeting, then Vice Mayor, David Aiazzi, stated, "There's a group of  
4 people here who-who have been left out but to defend [City] staff a little bit, this is  
5 a Waste Management proposal not a proposal by the City of Reno, I think it's  
6 there- it was their job to go talk to everyone and bring them in."<sup>1</sup>

8 In Zadra's opinion, NRS's facility and operations and RR were just as  
9 qualified for a Franchise zone either individually or collectively, as RDC and  
10 Castaway, but because RDC and Castaway had already been accepted as  
11 franchisees before the other haulers and facilities even knew the franchises were  
12 being considered, no other stakeholders had the opportunity to be considered. Vol.  
13 17, JA003268 at ¶16 and ¶17.

15 At no time prior to granting either RDC or Castaway a Franchised zone, did  
16 RDC or Castaway inform Councilwoman Zadra, or anyone else to her knowledge,  
17 that there was already an agreement to acquire Castaway in place. Vol. 17,  
18 JA003267, ¶12.

20 Had Councilwoman Zadra known of the secret, planned acquisition of

---

21 <sup>1</sup>[http://renocitynv.iqm2.com/Citizens/SplitView.aspx?Mode=Video&MeetingID=](http://renocitynv.iqm2.com/Citizens/SplitView.aspx?Mode=Video&MeetingID=1011&MinutesID=1011&FileFormat=doc&Format=Minutes&MediaFileFormat=wmv#)  
22 [1011&MinutesID=1011&FileFormat=doc&Format=Minutes&MediaFileFormat=](http://renocitynv.iqm2.com/Citizens/SplitView.aspx?Mode=Video&MeetingID=1011&MinutesID=1011&FileFormat=doc&Format=Minutes&MediaFileFormat=wmv#)  
23 [wmv#](http://renocitynv.iqm2.com/Citizens/SplitView.aspx?Mode=Video&MeetingID=1011&MinutesID=1011&FileFormat=doc&Format=Minutes&MediaFileFormat=wmv#)

1 Castaway sooner, she would not have voted in support of the Franchises that were  
2 approved and it's her belief that, had the other Council Members known about the  
3 secret purchase plans at the time, the City Council would have never approved the  
4 Franchise and Disposal Agreements as they were approved on November 7, 2012.

5 *Id.* at ¶13. Then Councilman Aiazzi testified similarly at his Deposition, as  
6 follows:  
7

8 "Q: Do you feel that was a material fact that the city council, as you  
9 as a city councilperson would like to know if there were negotiations  
10 occurring between Castaway and Waste Management before this  
11 franchise agreement was put before you? . . .

12 THE WITNESS: I don't know if this whole city council would have  
13 liked to know about it but I certainly would have liked to know about  
14 it.  
15 . . .

16 Q: You mentioned that Waste Management – if Waste Management  
17 and Castaway had been negotiating with each other regarding the  
18 buyout of Castaway, you at least as a council member would have  
19 liked to have known. Why would you have liked to have known?

20 A: Well, that's the whole purpose of the public process, to see what's  
21 going on. . . ."

22 Vol. 8, JA001476:22-1477:24.

23 The City made it clear from the outset, it would not award RDC an exclusive  
monopoly for commercial waste or recycling for all of Reno, which is why the City  
explicitly entered multiple agreements (two franchised zones). Vol. 17, JA003267,

¶14.

1 While the current Commercial Franchise Agreements allow an assignment  
2 by a franchisee of the franchisee's rights under its Agreement to a permitted  
3 Transferee without the City's written consent, the entire premise and intent of the  
4 Agreements was to preclude one entity from having a monopoly or sole exclusive  
5 rights over the entire City of Reno. Vol. 17, JA003268 at ¶18.  
6

7 The City of Reno never expressly pre-approved or agreed to any pre-  
8 arranged secret agreement to acquire Castaway prior to approval of the Franchise  
9 Agreements because the City did not know of the acquisition until after that time.  
10 *Id.* at ¶19.

11 From Councilwoman Zadra's perspective, RDC engaged in a fraud on the  
12 City because it knew of the City's explicit intent to have and maintain multiple  
13 providers in the Reno area and it intentionally developed a plan to circumvent the  
14 City of Reno's express wishes, while concealing their plan to create an exclusive  
15 monopoly. *Id.* at ¶21.  
16

17 The anticompetitive motive and intent of the Waste Management Parties'  
18 conspiracy to create a monopoly are explicitly stated in the [REDACTED]  
19 [REDACTED]

20 [REDACTED]  
21 [REDACTED]  
22 [REDACTED]  
23 [REDACTED]

1 [REDACTED]  
2 [REDACTED]  
3 [REDACTED]  
4 [REDACTED]  
5 Vol. 11, JA002279 at Section 5.01.

6 **IX.**  
7 **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

8 In addressing summary judgment motions in antitrust cases, courts have  
9 traditionally proceeded with caution in granting such motions. *Poller v. Columbia*  
10 *Broadcasting System Inc.*, 368 U.S. 464, 473 (1962) ("summary judgment  
11 procedures should be used sparingly in complex antitrust litigation where motive  
12 and intent play leading roles, the proof is largely in the hands of the alleged  
13 conspirators, and hostile witnesses thicken the plot"). Here, the District Court  
14 misapplied the applicable law in antitrust cases as well as the *Noerr-Pennington*  
15 immunity defense, which as set forth herein, is inapplicable in this case.

16  
17 Summary judgment may not be used as a shortcut to resolving disputes upon  
18 facts material to the determination of the legal rights of the parties." *Parman v.*  
19 *Petricciani*, 70 Nev. 427, 436, 272 P.2d 492, 496 (1954). See also, *Mullis v.*  
20 *Nevada National Bank*, 98 Nev. 510, 654 P.2d 533 (1982). The Court must view  
21 the evidence in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. *Pegasus v. Reno*  
22 *Newspapers, Inc.*, 118 Nev. 706, 713, 57 P.3d 82, 87 (2002).  
23

1 While in this case, NRS and RR demonstrated clear credibility issues on the  
2 part of RDC and Refuse and their witnesses, even when a plaintiff has not  
3 presented any evidence discrediting the honesty of the defendant, summary  
4 judgment is still not proper because a plaintiff must have the opportunity to  
5 examine the declarants and witnesses at trial, "especially as to matters peculiarly  
6 within defendant's knowledge." *Short v. Hotel Riviera, Inc.*, 79 Nev. 94, 378 P.2d  
7 979 (1963).

9 Furthermore, where evidence must be derived from the defendants and from  
10 their acts, conduct, speech, writings, and documents, the statements of the  
11 declarants should be explained at trial. *Id.* at 101. Where a defendant denies the  
12 plaintiff's allegations, it is for the trier of fact to determine the weight of the  
13 defendant's testimony. *Id.* at 102. In citing *Colby v. Klune*, 178 F.2d 872 (1949),  
14 *Short* noted:

16 '[T]rial by affidavit,' [is] improper because there is involved an issue  
17 of fact, turning on credibility...the opportunity to examine and cross-  
18 examine witnesses in open court, has often been acclaimed as one of  
19 the persistent, distinctive, and most valuable features of the common-  
20 law system. For only in such a trial can the trier of the facts (trial  
21 judge or jury) observe the witnesses' demeanor; and that demeanor-  
22 absent, of course, when trial is by affidavit or deposition-is recognized  
23 as important clues to witness credibility. When...the ascertainment (as  
near as may be) of the facts of a case turns on credibility, a triable  
issue of fact exists, and the granting of a summary judgment is error  
Particularly where...the facts are peculiarly in the knowledge of  
defendants or their witnesses, should the plaintiff have the opportunity  
to impeach them at trial . . . .

1 *Id.* Furthermore, a court should not evaluate the credibility of a witness for the  
2 purposes of summary judgment, as a plaintiff has the right to a trial where there is  
3 the slightest doubt as to the facts. (Citations Omitted). *Id.* at 102-03.  
4

5 With respect to antitrust actions, in *Poller v. Columbia Broadcasting System,*  
6 *Inc.*, 368 U.S. 464, 473 (1962), the United States Supreme Court held:

7 [S]ummary procedures should be used sparingly in complex antitrust  
8 litigation where motive and intent play leading roles, the proof is largely  
9 in the hands of the alleged conspirators, and hostile witnesses thicken the  
10 plot. It is only when the witnesses are present and subject to cross-  
11 examination that their credibility and the weight to be given their  
12 testimony can be appraised. Trial by affidavit is no substitute for trial by  
13 jury ....

14 Due to the conflicting evidence and Affidavits, as well as the countless genuine  
15 issues of material facts herein; summary disposition should be reversed.

## 16 X. 17 ARGUMENT

### 18 A. Standard of Review

19 This court reviews a district court's order granting summary judgment de  
20 novo, without deference to the district court's findings. *Wood v. Safeway, Inc.*, 121  
21 Nev. 724, 121 P.3d 1026, 1029 (2005). De novo review of an order granting  
22 summary judgment is made "to determine whether the evidence properly before  
23 the district court demonstrate[s] that no genuine issue as to any material fact  
[remains] and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of

1 law.” *Torrealba v. Kesmetis*, 124 Nev. 95, 100, 178 P.3d 716, 720  
2 (2008) (Citations Omitted).

3  
4 **B. The District Court erred by applying *Noerr Pennington* immunity to a**  
5 **private agreement between private parties who only used the petitioning**  
6 **process an incidental conduit to carrying out their anticompetitive**  
7 **conspiracy to create a monopoly.**

8  
9 In granting summary judgment, the District Court erroneously found:

10 The Nevada Revised Statutes clearly contemplate the safe harbor  
11 described in the Noerr decision. NRS 598A.040(3)(b) says that the  
12 provisions of this chapter do not apply to conduct which is expressly  
13 authorized, regulated, or approved by an ordinance of any city or  
14 county of this state. .... The Court finds that this contract, although  
15 it limits competition in the waste disposal industry, is a valid  
16 exercise of a proper government power and is specifically exempted  
17 from antitrust supervision and antitrust application. Further, the  
18 Defendants’ conduct is exempt from liability because it involves a  
19 political and not business conduct under the Noerr Doctrine  
20 discussed above.

21 JA005292:17-28. NRS 598A.060(1)(e) provides, “Every activity enumerated in  
22 this section constitutes a contract, combination or conspiracy in restraint of trade  
23 **and it is unlawful to conduct any part of any such activity in this state:...** (e)  
monopolization of trade or commerce in this state, including, without limitation,  
**attempting to monopolize or otherwise combining or conspiring to monopolize**  
trade or commerce in this state.” [Emphasis Added].



1 In late 2011 and early 2012, the Reno City Council decided they were not  
2 going to grant an Exclusive Franchise Agreement to any one entity. Vol. 17,  
3 JA003266 at ¶3; Vol. 7, JA001330:13-15, JA001334:5-6. Only after which, the  
4 Waste Management Parties entered into a secret private agreement with Castaway,  
5 conspiring with Castaway to monopolize the waste and recycling market. After  
6 entering into the private agreement with Castaway, RDC then went to the City and  
7 proposed two zones.  
8

9 On [REDACTED], [REDACTED] emailed [REDACTED]  
10 [REDACTED]  
11 [REDACTED] explicitly stating in relevant part:  
12

13 [REDACTED]  
14 [REDACTED]  
15 [REDACTED]  
16 [REDACTED]  
17 [REDACTED]  
18 [REDACTED]  
19 [REDACTED]  
20 [REDACTED].

21 [Emphasis Added]. Vol. 13, JA002562-2563. The sole purpose of the private  
22 agreement in [REDACTED] was to exclude competitors as [REDACTED]  
23 [REDACTED]

1 [REDACTED]. *Id.* This private agreement falls completely outside of any type of  
2 "petitioning activity" that may be protected by the *Noerr Pennington* Doctrine.

3 On [REDACTED], the parties exchanged [REDACTED]  
4 [REDACTED]  
5 [REDACTED]  
6 [REDACTED]  
7 [REDACTED]  
8 [REDACTED]  
9 [REDACTED]  
10 [REDACTED]  
11 [REDACTED]  
12 [REDACTED]

13 [REDACTED]." Vol. 11,  
14 JA002308. This was a private agreement between the Waste Management Parties  
15 and Castaway whereby they agreed to seek two franchise zones, knowing that  
16 Castaway would never service a single day of its zone, in order to create an  
17 exclusive monopoly for RDC. There was no "petitioning activity" whatsoever  
18 involved at that time.  
19

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