1 IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA 2 3 NEVADA RECYCLING **AND** Electronically Filed SALVAGE, LTD.; AMCB, LLC d/b/a 4 Case No.: 71467 Sep 12 2017 09:27 a.m. RUBBISH RUNNERS, Elizabeth A. Brown 5 District Court Case No letk of 60497eme Court 6 Appellants, 7 VS. 8 9 RENO DISPOSAL COMPANY, INC.; INC.; REFUSE, WASTE 10 MANAGEMENT OF NEVADA. INC., 11 12 Respondents 13 14 15 **RESPONDENTS' ANSWERING BRIEF** 16 17 ROBISON, SIMONS/SHARP & BRUST 18 19

Mark G. Simons, Esq. (NSB 5132)
Therese M. Shanks, Esq. (NSB 12890)
Robinson, Simons, Sharp & Brust
71 Washington Street
Reno Nevada 89503
(775) 329-3151

Attour ous for Passon

Attorneys for Respondents

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

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

In the present case, NRS/RR's reliance on any market activity exception to the Noerr-Pennington doctrine fails because here there is no wrongful or tortious conduct occurring between Reno Disposal and Castaway. There was no boycotting, no price fixing and absolutely no market monopolistic market activity that took place. Furthermore, the conduct which did occur, occurred in contemplation of petitioning activity. The record is clear that Reno Disposal

agreed to purchase Castaways' franchise zone if the City implemented the City's new Franchise Agreements.

NRS and RR acknowledge this very fact when they argue to this Court that Reno Disposal and Castaway acted wrongfully when "they agreed to seek two franchise zones, knowing that Castaway would never service a single day of its zone, in order to create an exclusive monopoly for RDC." AOB., p.15:14-17. The complained of activity, using NRS's and RR's own words, is that the anticompetitive conduct was an agreement to jointly seek the City's creation of two franchise zones. As stated, NRS's and RR's contentions fall square within the Noerr-Pennington framework immunizing Respondents from any antitrust liability as a matter of law. The District Court's order should be affirmed.

B. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN CONSIDERING THE EVIDENCE BEFORE IT.

This Court reviews claims of evidentiary error for an abuse of discretion.

Quinlan v. Camden USA, Inc., 126 Nev. 311, 316, 236 P.3d 613, 616 (2010).

"An abuse of discretion can occur when the district court bases its decision on a clearly erroneous factual determination or it disregards controlling law." MB

Am., Inc. v. Alaska Pac. Leasing Co., 132 Nev. Adv. Op. 8, 367 P.3d 1286, 1292 (2016).

It is well-established that a party must present competent evidence to oppose summary judgment or have judgment entered against it. Affidavits with conclusory statements and assertions are inadmissible as evidence and cannot defeat a motion for summary judgment. Catrone v. 105 Casino Corp., 82 Nev. 166, 171, 414 P.2d 106, 109 (1966) (holding that conclusions in an affidavit without factual support are inadmissible as evidence and cannot defeat a motion for summary judgment). Further, "evidence that would inadmissible at the trial of the case is inadmissible on a motion for summary judgment." Adamson v. Bowker, 85 Nev. 115, 119, 450 P.2d 796, 799 (1969). A party cannot present contradictory facts in an attempt to manufacture a question of fact to avoid summary judgment. Bank of Las Vegas v. Hoopes, 84 Nev. 585, 586, 445 P.2d 937, 938 (1968) (holding that "a 'genuine' issue of material fact within the intendment of NRCP 56 may not be created by the conflicting sworn statements of the party against whom summary judgment was entered").

In the present appeal, NRS and RR exclusively rely upon the affidavit of Sharon Zadra in an attempt to create a question of fact as to the City's intent in entering into the Franchise Agreements and the City's conduct relating to the selection of the qualified contractors. They latch onto Ms. Zadra's statement that she would not have approved the Franchise Agreements had she been aware of

the Reno Disposal and Castaway arrangement. AOB., p 28. This affidavit does not create an issue of fact for the following reasons.

First, NRS and RR admit that the Franchise Agreements are valid and enforceable. 26 JA 5291. The City has not, and does not, contest the validity and enforceability of these agreements. Thus, even though Ms. Zadra's affidavit purported to make allegations on behalf of the City she was never designated by the City as a NRCP 30(b)(6) representative and her grandiose statements as to the City's intent, the City's knowledge and the City's actions must all be disregarded as she does not speak and has not been authorized to speak on behalf of the City with regard to the terms of the Franchise Agreements.

Second, Ms. Zadra's affidavit attempted to imply that her lack of knowledge of critical events demonstrated "the City's" lack of knowledge of the same events. This implication is false. The City is not charged with Ms. Zadra's lack of knowledge, but with the knowledge of *all* it its agents. As this Court holds, the knowledge of a corporation is based upon the *totality* of the knowledge of the corporation's agents. In re Amerco Derivative Litig., 127 Nev. 196, 252 P.3d 681, 695 (2011). Accordingly, Ms. Zadra's ignorance is not charged to the City. Instead, Ms. Zadra is charged with the knowledge obtained by all the agents of the City relating to the Franchise Agreements. This includes the knowledge of Jon Shipman, the City Staff and other City Council members all of

whom were fully aware that Reno Disposal was likely to acquire Castaway after the Franchise Agreements were entered into because they were told by NRS and RR of such action.

Further, NRS and RR disingenuously argue to this Court that Ms. Zadra and apparently no one else at the City allegedly knew about Reno Disposal's anticipated acquisition of Castaway. AOB, p. 7:15-18. However, NRS's own 30(b)(6) representative specifically informed the City Attorney of this activity. 13 JA 2636. Further, multiple council members and the Mayor were fully aware of this activity and/or potential activity and were entirely supportive of it because the express provisions of the Franchise Agreements allowed Reno Disposal to acquire Castaway. 13 JA 2638-2642. Therefore, NRS's and RR's attempt to present Ms. Zadra's affidavit in an effort to create a conflict as to what the City knew must be disregarded since NRS/RR is precluded from manufacturing a question of fact by attempting to contradict their own statements and admissions.

Third, NRS and RR have repeatedly admitted that the Franchise Agreements are unambiguous contracts. 26 JA 5291. This admission precludes them from attempting to present evidence contradicting the parties' expressed intent in the Franchise Agreements. Great Am. Airways, Inc. v. Airport Auth. of Washoe

Cnty., 103 Nev. 427, 429, 743 P.2d 628, 629 (1987) ("The preeminent rule of construction is to ascertain the intention of the contracting parties. . . .If that

intention is clear from the text, no construction is required . . . and this court is bound by the language of the agreement. . . . ").

Fourth, the content of Ms. Zadra's affidavit was properly ignored by the District Court pursuant to the parol evidence rule. This rule precludes a party from attempting to present evidence at trial seeking to contradict the express terms of a written agreement. In re Cay Clubs, 130 Nev. Adv. Op. 14, 340 P.3d 563, 574 (Nev. 2014). Ms. Zadra's affidavit contains a multitude of statements that directly contradict the unambiguous terms of the Franchise Agreements, which, as set forth above, expressly permitted Castaway to assign its rights to Reno Disposal without City knowledge or approval.

Fifth, Ms. Zadra's affidavit was also premised on her "belief" and opinion and not upon any personal knowledge. For instance, it was Ms. Zadra's belief that the City Council would not have voted for the Franchise Agreements if they knew Castaway and Reno Disposal were discussing an acquisition and that NRS/RR would have been qualified to perform waste collection activities under a Franchise Agreements. 19 JA 3770-71. Belief and opinion do not constitute personal knowledge. Saka v. Sahara-Nev. Corp., 92 Nev. 703, 705, 558 P.2d 535, 536 (1976) (holding that "facts must be made upon the affiant's personal knowledge, and there must be an affirmative showing of his competency to testify to them.").

Finally, Ms. Zadra's contention that Reno Disposal committed a fraud by acquiring Castaway because she would not have voted to approve the Franchise Agreements knowing this activity could occur is again not admissible and pure speculation. The law is clear that when a party signs a contract, it is bound by the terms therein whether she reads the terms or not. Campanelli v. Conservas Altamira, S.A., 86 Nev. 838, 841, 477 P.2d 870, 872 (1970) ("[W]hen a party to a written contract accepts it is . . . a contract he is bound by the stipulations and conditions expressed in it whether he reads them or not." (Internal quotations omitted)). The City is bound by the admitted terms of the Franchise Agreements even though Ms. Zadra voted to approve the agreements but apparently never took the opportunity to read and comprehend the terms of such agreements. Again, the District Court found that NRS and RR had conceded that the Franchise Agreements expressly allowed Reno Disposal to acquire Castaway's franchise rights without further City approval. 26 JA 5291.

Taken together, Ms. Zadra's affidavit had no evidentiary value, was based upon speculation and conjecture and was insufficient to contradict NRS's/RR's own statements and admission in this case. Therefore, the District Court did not abuse its discretion, and must be affirmed.

///

28 ///

C. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ERR IN FINDING THAT NRS AND RR HAD NO STANDING AND SUSTAINED NO DAMAGES.

The District Court properly held that NRS and RR did not have standing because they did not sustain any damage or injury. In order to have standing to bring an antitrust claim, the plaintiff must be able to demonstrate that it incurred an antitrust injury. Brunswick Corp. v. Pueblo Bowl-O-Mat, Inc., 429 U.S. 477, 489 (1977). This injury must be of "the type the antitrust laws were intended to prevent and that flows from that which makes defendants' acts unlawful." Id. In order to sustain an antitrust injury that would create standing, the plaintiff must be a competitor in the restrained market. Eagle v. Star-Kist Foods, Inc., 812 F.2d 538, 540 (9th Cir. 1987) ("[T]he party alleging the injury must be either a consumer of the alleged violator's goods or services or a competitor of the alleged violator in the restrained market.").

Here, it is undisputed that the City selected Reno Disposal and Castaway as **the only qualified solid waste haulers** to receive a franchise agreement.

NRS/RR has admitted this fact. Accordingly, the contention that the Plaintiffs sustained any harm is pure speculation because the undisputed evidence is that the Plaintiffs were not selected by the City to be capable of receiving a

¹⁴ 18 JA 3509 ("Q: So the City . . . determined who the potential qualified contractors would be. . . ; right? A: Yes."). *See also* 14 JA 2925-2927 detailing City's selection of qualified contractors.

franchise.¹⁵ Therefore, NRS (a waste disposal facility) and RR (a small, local hauler) were not competitors in the restrained market. Further, any harm sustained by NRS and RR was caused by the City exercising its lawful franchise authority to restrict competition in the field of waste collection and not by any wrongful conduct of the Respondents.

Because NRS and RR were not harmed by Respondents, they have no standing to assert their claims in this action. It is well established that "behavior is not actionable unless **it actually causes** plaintiff's injuries " Sims v. Gen.

Tele. & Elec., 107 Nev. 516, 524, 815 P.2d 151, 156 (1991) (emphasis added)
(overruled on other grounds by Tucker v. Action Equip. & Scaffold Co., 113

Nev. 1349, 951 P.2d 1027 (1997)). NRS and RR have the burden to establish causation of an injury even under an anti-competition claim. Assoc. Gen.

Contractors of Cal., Inc. v. Cal. State Council of Carpenters, 459 U.S. 519, 545 (1983) (plaintiff's anti-competitive claims failed because plaintiff failed to prove proximate cause or injury); MetroNet Serv. Corp. v. Qwest Corp., 383 F.3d 1124, 1131 (9th Cir. 2004) (plaintiff must prove defendant "caused" an antitrust injury); St. Louis Convention & Visitors Comm'n v. Nat'l Football League, 154 F.3d 851,

¹⁵ NRS and RR drove this very point home when NRS and RR represented to the District Court that they "are small local hauling, collection and recycling companies." 17 JA 3242. Obviously, the City did not want to grant such a critical health and safety franchise to a small business that was incapable of such an important public health service provided to the residents of the City.

862 (8th Cir. 1998) ("In order to satisfy the causation element . . . [plaintiff] had to show that the NFL's anticompetitive acts were an actual, material cause of the alleged harm"). NRS and RR failed to establish any causal connection because it was the City's lawful action that was the alleged "cause" of NRS's and RR's purported harm.

Instead, of addressing these critical defects in their claim, NRS and RR contend that their alleged "exclusion" from the market negates their burden to prove "that the plaintiff was qualified to get or would have gotten the business." AOB, p.33:13-16. If this were true, then every person in the entire world would have standing to assert an antitrust claim. An antitrust plaintiff would never have to prove causation, or that it was a participant in and/or capable of doing the market activity from which it claims to be excluded. NRS's and RR's position is facially unworkable and contrary to the established law.

Again, the record is clear that NRS and RR were not capable of competing in the market. The City made this determination. Further, Respondents have no liability because their conduct did not create the anticompetitive market. It was the City's decision to exercise its franchise authority and create franchise zones which impacted the market. As such, the District Court was correct in concluding that NRS and RR lacked standing to assert an antitrust claim and that there was no evidence supporting any claim of damages.

D. THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY GRANTED SUMMARY JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF WMN.

Contrary to NRS's and RR's contention, the District Court properly granted summary judgment in favor of WMN without allowing NRS and RR time to conduct discovery on their alter ego theory. NRS and RR did not asserted a separate substantive claim against WMN and their claim against WMN was based solely on a theory of alter ego derivative liability. See 18 JA 3538.

Because the District Court found that Reno Disposal was not liable, WMN could not be held liable under a theory of derivative liability.

Accordingly, the District Court did not abuse its discretion in refusing to grant NRS's and RR's NRCP 56(f) request because the NRS and RR did not assert any direct claims against WMN. Any discovery relating to NRS's and RR's alter ego theory would only be necessary if Reno Disposal had any potential liability. *See, e.g.,* United States v. Bestfoods, 524 U.S. 51, 64–65 (1998) (holding that there is a clear distinction between direct liability arising out of one's own acts and derivative liability stemming from the acts of a subsidiary entity under an alter ego claim); Local 159, 342, 343 & 444 v. Nor–Cal Plumbing, Inc., 185 F.3d 978, 985 (9th Cir.1999) ("A request to pierce the

¹⁶<u>Leek v. Cooper</u>, 194 Cal. App. 4th 399, 418–19, 125 Cal. Rptr. 3d 56, 71 (2011) ("A claim based upon an alter ego theory is not itself a claim for substantive relief. . . . It is a procedural device by which courts will disregard the corporate entity in order to hold the alter ego individual liable on the obligations of the corporation.").

corporate veil is only a means of imposing liability for an underlying cause of action and is not a cause of action in and of itself.").

Because the District Court held that Reno Disposal had no antitrust liability, then NRS's and RR's alter claim against WMN also failed as a matter of law. The District Court's denial of NRS's and RR's NRCP 56(f) relief was proper because all discovery relating to NRS's and RR's alter ego contention became moot upon the District Court's grant of summary judgment in Reno Disposal's favor. Accordingly, the District Court should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION

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